STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On October 26, 1987, Rigoberto Hurtado was involved in an automobile accident with a vehicle driven by Noel Armando Arauz, and owned by Jose Arauz, at the intersection of S. W. 202nd Avenue and S. W. Turner and 64th Street in Homestead, Florida. (R. 4)² As a result of the accident, it was alleged that he had sustained serious bodily injuries. (R. 4) At the time of the accident, the Defendants were uninsured motorists. (R. 4)

At the time of the accident in question, the Plaintiff was operating a vehicle which was owned by his employer, Miranda Groves and Nurseries, Inc. (A-54) The truck was provided to Mr. Hurtado as part of his employment benefits by Miranda Groves and Nurseries, Inc. (A-54) All insurance, maintenance costs and

The Plaintiffs/Appellants/Respondents, Rigoberto and Susana Hurtado, will be referred to in this brief either as Plaintiff or by name. The Defendant/Appellee/Petitioner, Florida Farm Bureau Casualty Company, will be referred to as Defendant or as Farm Bureau. Noel Armando Arauz and Jose Arauz, technical Appellees to this appeal, will be referred to by name.

For ease of reference herein, all references to the Record on Appeal will be referred to as (R.) followed by citation to the appropriate page number of the Record on Appeal.

The Index to the Record on Appeal indicates two clerks' notes indicating that the Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and attachments and the Defendants' motion for summary judgment along with attachments could not be located. These were attached as an Appendix to the Mr. and Mrs. Hurtado's brief in the Third District. That Appendix has been copied in its entirety and is added as an Appendix to this brief, Pages A-1 through A-68. All citations to the Appendix will be referred to as (A) followed by the citation to the appropriate page number of the Appendix.

registration fees were paid by the employer. Mr. Hurtado was allowed to use the vehicle for both his business and personal use and would usually take the vehicle home. (A-54) Additionally, from time to time, he was allowed to use other vehicles owned by his employer. (A-55)

The vehicle which Mr. Hurtado was operating at the time of the accident was insured through a business owner's policy issued by Farm Bureau to Miranda Groves and Nurseries, Inc. (R.7-28) The named insured was Miranda Groves and Nurseries, Inc. (R. 7) The policy insured 11 different vehicles including the 1981 Isuzu pickup truck which was being operated by the Plaintiff at the time of the accident. (R. 8) Additionally, the policy provided uninsured motorist coverage on each of the 11 vehicles and separate premiums were charged for the provision of that coverage. (R. 8) The uninsured motorist portion of the policy states that there are words and phrases with special meaning. (R. 20) Specifically, the term "family member" is defined as follows:

""Family Member" means a person related to you by blood, marriage or adoption who is a resident of your household, including a ward or foster child."

The terms "you" and "your" are defined in Part I of the policy as follows:

"You" and "Your" mean the person or organization shown as the named insured in Item I of the Declarations." (R. 13)

Item I of the Declarations lists Miranda Groves and Nurseries, Inc. as the named insured. (R. 7-9)

The uninsured motorist insurance then defines who is an insured for purposes of uninsured motorist coverage. The policy states:

"Who is insured.

- 1. You and any family member.
- 2. Anyone else occupying a covered auto or temporary substitute for a covered auto. The covered auto must be out of service because of its breakdown, repair, servicing, loss or destruction." (R. 20)

The policy also provides limitations of \$300,000.00 per person and \$500,000.00 per accident concerning UM payments. (R. 7)

In his complaint, Mr. Hurtado sought to stack the coverages on each of the corporately-owned vehicles so as to avail himself of an aggregate of \$3.3 million dollars in uninsured motorist coverage. (R. 1-3, 37-39) Farm Bureau admitted that there was \$300,000.00 in available uninsured motorist coverage and denied that Mr. Hurtado could stack the UM benefits. (R. 45) Additionally, Farm Bureau maintained that as a matter of law, there could be no stacking available to the Plaintiff or the corporate vehicles. (R. 46-47)

The Defendant filed its motion for summary judgment on December 5, 1988, and the Plaintiffs filed their cross-motion for summary judgment on December 20, 1988. (A-4-51) Additionally, each of the parties filed various documents in support of their motions for summary judgment. (A-1-3, 52-66) The lower granted Farm Bureau's motion for summary judgment on the stacking issue and concluded that the plaintiff would not be allowed to stack or

aggregate the coverage for all vehicles listed on the corporate employer's policy. (A-67-68, R. 137-138) The court also rejected the Plaintiffs' contention that the 1980 amendment to <u>Fla. Stat.</u> § 627.4132 changed the law so as to allow him to stack the coverage even though he was neither a named insured nor a resident relative of the named insured, and was only occupying one insured vehicle at the time of the accident. The Plaintiffs took a timely appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal. (R. 108)

Following briefing and oral argument, the Third District Court of Appeal reached its decision on February 13, 1990. decision reversed the summary judgment in favor of Farm Bureau and held that Mr. Hurtado was entitled to stack or multiply the UM coverage on each vehicle by the number of vehicles insured under the corporate insured's policy. (R. 139-145) The court based its holding on its conclusion that Mr. Hurtado was not properly categorized as a Class II insured, as he was not a quest in the vehicle, but was an employee using his employer's vehicle. court was persuaded that his regular full-time use of the vehicle changed him from what would otherwise be considered a Class II insured. (R. 143) Additionally, the court concluded that the 1980 amendment to Fla. Stat. § 627.4132 expressly created a new class of insured which allowed persons such as Mr. Hurtado the benefit available uninsured motorist coverage of stacking the automobile policies issued to their corporate employer. of July 16, 1990, this Court accepted jurisdiction following the filing of a timely notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction and jurisdictional briefing.

POINTS ON APPEAL

I.

WHETHER THE 1980 AMENDMENT TO FLORIDA STATUTES § 627.4132 (FLORIDA'S ANTI-STACKING STATUTE) OVERRULED OR MODIFIED THE CLASSIFICATION OF INSURED AS CLASS I OR CLASS II IN MULLIS V. STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE CO., 252 So.2d 229 (FLA. 1971) AND CREATED A NEW CLASS OF INSUREDS?

II.

WHETHER THE 1980 AMENDMENT TO FLORIDA STATUTES § 627.4132 WHICH DELETED UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE FROM THE PROHIBITION OF STACKING CONFERS A NEW RIGHT UPON PERSONS PROPERLY CLASSIFIED AS CLASS II INSUREDS TO STACK UM COVERAGE FROM VEHICLES WHICH THEY WERE NOT OCCUPYING AT THE TIME OF THE ACCIDENT?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), this Court recognized two classes of insureds for purposes of uninsured motorist coverage. The first class of insureds constituted the named insured and all resident family members in the insured's household. To this class of insureds, Florida law prohibited any restriction which would limit uninsured motorist coverage or attempt to restrict it to an insured's occupancy of any type of vehicle. Class II insureds, on the other hand, were any lawful occupant of the insured vehicle. This class of insureds did not enjoy the same protection as the Class I insureds, because their only connection to the insurance policy was their occupancy of the insured vehicle.

As the concept of stacking developed in Florida, the courts relied upon the distinction of the types of protection afforded to the named insured and resident family members as opposed to lawful occupants of the vehicle to determine who would be able stack or aggregate coverage. Class I insureds would be able to avail themselves of all coverages available under all policies for all vehicles insured no matter where they were at the time of injury. Class II insureds, however, could only avail themselves of the coverage for the vehicle in which they were an occupant at the time of the injury.

With that in mind, the Third District Court of Appeal construed the 1980 amendment to Fla. Stat. § 627.4132 as expressly

creating a new class of insureds. The effect of the court's ruling was that someone who would otherwise be properly characterized as a Class II insured, could avail themselves of the same broad coverage as a Class I insured. A review of the 1980 amendment, however, does not remotely suggest that the Legislature had created any new classification of insured. Instead, the Third District had to resort to creative interpretation of legislative history to reach its conclusion. By doing so, the Third District ignored the clear directive from this Court in Shelby Mutual Insurance Co. v. Smith, 556 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1990), that the plain meaning of the statutory language is the first consideration of statutory construction. Had the Third District obeyed this Court's directive, it could not have reasonably construed the 1980 amendment as creating some new classification of insured.

Likewise, the 1980 amendment simply deleted any reference to uninsured motorist coverage. Historically, Class II insureds were never given the right to stack uninsured motorist coverage. The Second District had previously ruled in Travelers Insurance Co. v. Pac, 337 So.2d 397 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976), cert. den., 351 So.2d 407 (Fla. 1977), that an employee who was injured while operating a vehicle which was owned and insured by his corporate employer, could not stack the UM coverage for all vehicles listed on a fleet policy. The court reasoned that under the classifications and analysis of Mullis, the employee would be entitled only to the uninsured motorist coverage for the vehicle he was occupying at the time of the injury.

The Third District construed the amendment as changing the law announced in <u>Pac</u>. The deletion of the term "uninsured motorist", according to the Third District, either created or conferred a right which had never before existed for a Class II insured. With all due respect to the Third District, under no reasonable interpretation of the statute could one reach that conclusion.

Third District also ignored the tremendous The ramifications of its ruling which treats an employee of a corporate-named insured as a Class I insured for purposes of stacking UM coverage on a fleet policy. The Third District has also conferred Class I rights upon the employee's spouse and resident family members. All of these people would be entitled, not only to be covered no matter where they were injured by an uninsured motorist, but would also be able to stack the available uninsured motorist coverage for all vehicles in the employer's fleet. There certainly is no overwhelming public policy which the court identified to support the assumption of such a risk by an insurer or why such a result would help further any societal This Court should quash the decision of the Third interest. District and reinstate the summary judgment entered in favor of Farm Bureau.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE 1980 AMENDMENT TO <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u> § 627.4132 (FLORIDA'S ANTI-STACKING STATUTE) DID NOT OVERRULE OR MODIFY THE CLASSIFICATION OF INSUREDS AS CLASS I OR CLASS II IN <u>MULLIS v.</u> STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE CO., 252 SO.2D 229 (FLA. 1971) NOR CREATE A NEW CLASS OF INSUREDS.

As with most UM cases, the analysis in this case must begin with this Court's decision in Mullis v. State Farm Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). As this Court recently noted in Valiant Insurance Co. v. Webster, ____ So.2d ____, 15 FLWS 405 (Fla. July 26, 1990):

"Ever since its publication, the <u>Mullis</u> opinion has been the polestar in determining the extent to which the state requires uninsured motorist coverage to be provided."

In <u>Mullis</u>, Shelby Mullis and his son, Richard, sued State Farm and alleged that Shelby Mullis had been issued two policies of liability coverage which insured two automobiles owned by Mr. Mullis and for which uninsured motorist protection had been afforded. Pursuant to the then existing UM statute, coverage was afforded to Mr. Mullis, the named insured, to his spouse, and to their relatives resident in the household for bodily injury caused by the negligence of an owner or operator of an uninsured automobile. The complaint alleged that Richard Mullis, the son, was injured while the policies were in effect and while he was operating a Honda motorcycle which was covered by neither automobile policy. The injury allegedly occurred as the result of the negligent operation of an automobile by an uninsured motorist.

State Farm's policy, like Farm Bureau's policy in the present case, defined an insured for purposes of UM coverage to mean the first person named in the declaration, and while residents of his household, his spouse and the relatives of either. Also included as an insured was any other person while occupying an insured automobile. The policy excluded coverage for bodily injury to an insured while occupying or through being struck by a land motor vehicle owned by the named insured or any resident of the same household if such vehicle was not an insured automobile. This Court summarized the policies as providing UM family protection for the members of the Mullis family subject to the exclusion referred to above. After reviewing the case law in Florida and from around the country, this Court concluded that the exclusion was legally impermissible under Florida law.

This Court's analysis began with reference to Florida's financial responsibility laws. It noted that the persons insured under an automobile policy, as contemplated by the Financial Responsibility Law, ordinarily included the owner or operator of an automobile, his spouse and other members of his family resident in his household. Likewise, those occupying the insured automobile with the insured owner's permission were also considered insureds.⁴

It is significant to note that the pertinent terms of the Financial Responsibility Law addressed in <u>Mullis</u> have not been significantly altered since that time. As it did in 1971, the statute still requires permissive users to be included as an insured person under policies issued to comply with its terms. <u>See</u>, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> § 324.151(1)(a)(1987).

This Court then relied upon a reciprocal analysis to declare State Farm's exclusion to be invalid. Essentially, the Court reasoned that UM coverage was required to provide the reciprocal of coverage required by the financial responsibility statute. Any exclusion which reduced the coverage mandated by the statute would violate the public policy expressed in that statute. Therefore, such an exclusion would be unenforceable. 5 This Court then explained the application of its analysis to the facts. Mr. Mullis had purchased UM coverage pursuant to the statute for himself, as the named insured, for his spouse and for their relatives who were residents of his household. The purpose of the UM coverage to these insureds was to provide coverage as if the uninsured motorist himself had purchased automobile liability coverage in compliance with the financial responsibility law. Mullis court explained:

"This, of course, would not be case as to other persons potentially covered who are not in the class of named insureds and relative residents in the Mullis household. These latter are protected only if they receive bodily injury due to the negligence of an uninsured motorist while they occupy the insured automobile of the named insured with his permission or consent. This latter group is necessarily restricted to occupants of the insured automobile for the purpose of coverage identification and to show their insurable relationship to the named insured paralleling coverage for others than the named insured in the automobile liability policy. However, this is not true as to the named insured and

This Court continues to adhere to the same analysis as stated in its decision in <u>Valiant Insurance Co. v.</u>
<u>Wester</u>, So.2d 15 FLWS 405 (Fla. July 26, 1990).

the protected relatives resident in his household." Id. at 233 (Emphasis Added)

This Court concluded that as to Class I insureds (the named insured and relative residents of his household), the UM statute required that coverage be provided under whatever conditions, locations or circumstances, that they happened to be in at the time the bodily injury was inflicted by the negligence of an uninsured motorist. To satisfy that purpose, no policy exclusions contrary to the statute of any of the class of family insureds were permissible. The second class of insureds, however, were lawful occupants of the vehicle whose only connection to the policy would their occupancy of an insured vehicle. This class of persons did not enjoy the same protection as Class I insureds because they were not "insured" under all circumstances as would be a family member.

In its effort to create additional insurance coverage for Mr. Hurtado, the Third District acknowledged that he was not a Class I insured, because he was not the named insured or a family member who resided in the named insured's household. (R. 141) However, the court incorrectly concluded that he was not a Class II insured. The reasoning of the Third District was that Mr. Hurtado was not a guest at the time of the accident, but merely an employee using his employer's vehicle. (R. 143) The Third District then stated that the 1980 amendment to Fla. Stat. § 627.4132 expressly created a new class of insured, and further, that this new class of insured was entitled to stack the multiple coverages

on vehicles which were owned by their corporate employer and to which the corporate employer was the named insured.

To understand the Third District's conclusion, it is necessary to examine <u>Fla. Stat.</u> § 627.4132 which became effective October 1, 1976, and its subsequent amendment by Chapter 80-364, <u>Laws of Florida</u>. The 1976 statute provided:

"627.4132, Stacking of coverage prohibited.

--if an insured or named insured is protected by any type of motor vehicle insurance policy for liability, uninsured motorist, personal injury protection, or any other coverage, the policy shall provide that the insured or named insured is protected only to the extent of the coverage he has on the vehicle involved in the accident. However, if none of the insured's or named insured's vehicles is involved in the accident, coverage is available only to the extent of coverage on any one of the vehicles with applicable coverage. Coverage on any other vehicle shall not be added to or stacked upon that coverage. This section shall not apply to reduce the coverage available by of insurance policies insuring different named insureds."

As revised in 1980, the only real change was the deletion of the term "uninsured motorist" from the provisions of the statute. The revised statute as provided in Chapter 80-364, <u>Laws of Florida</u> provides:

"627.4132, Stacking of coverage prohibited.

--if an insured or named insured is protected by any type of motor vehicle insurance policy for liability, uninsured motorist, personal injury protection or other coverage, the policy shall provide that the insured or named insured is protected only to the extent of the coverage he has on the vehicle involved in the accident. However, if none of the insured's or named insured's vehicles is involved in the accident, coverage is available only to the extent of coverage on any one of the vehicles with applicable coverage. Coverage on any other vehicle shall not be added to or stacked upon that coverage. This section shall does not apply:

- 1. To insured motorist coverage.
- To reduce the coverage available by reason of insurance policies insuring different named insureds.

In Shelby Mutual Insurance Co. v. Smith, 556 So.2d 393 (Fla. 1990), this Court stated that the plain meaning of statutory language is the first consideration of statutory construction. Id. at 395. See also, St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1982). This Court also explained that it is only when the statute has a doubtful meaning should matters extrinsic to the statute be considered in construing the language which the legislature has chosen to employ. It is respectfully submitted that had the Third District simply followed that very clear directive from this Court, it could not have reasonably concluded that the 1980 amendment to the anti-stacking statute expressly created a new class of insured. There is nothing in the language of that statute to transform a permissive user or lawful occupant of a vehicle from a Class II insured into anything else. stated, the language chosen by the legislature does not address the classification of insureds, does not create any new classes and cannot reasonably be interpreted to do so.

Certainly, had the legislature chosen to overrule, modify, or change the law as expressed in this Court's decision in Mullis, it was free to do so. As recently noted by Judge

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