IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA FARM BUREAU CASUALTY COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 75,624

RIGOBERTO HURTADO and SUSANA HURTADO, his wife,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MARK J. FELDMAN, P.A. 2350 Coral Way, Suite 302 Miami, FL 33145

and

JOHN BERANEK
Florida Bar No. 005419
Aurell, Radey, Hinkle & Thomas
101 North Monroe Street
Suite 1000
Post Office Drawer 11307
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
904/681-7766

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly interpreted the 1980 amendment to the anti-stacking statute to allow stacking of the separate UM coverages. The legislative history shows this was exactly the intent of the amendment. In 1980, the Florida Legislature chose to allow stacking of UM coverages and further intended that UM rates would be raised accordingly.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER \mathtt{THE} 1980 **AMENDMENT** TO §627.4132 (FLORIDA'S ANTI-STACKING STATUTE) MODIFIED THE CLASSIFICATION CLASS CLASS OF Ι AND INSUREDS AS ESTABLISHED IN MULLIS v. STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, 252 So.2d 229 (FLA. 1971).

The Third District Court of Appeal held that stacking was appropriate under this policy pursuant to the 1980 amendments to the anti-stacking statute. The Court specifically found that Hurtado was within the class of individuals which the Legislature intended to benefit in the 1980 amendment to Section 627.4132. Prior to this decision, no other court had considered and addressed the applicable legislative history of the 1980 amendment. Apparently, no lawyer had brought this history to a court's attention.

In 1976 in Chapter 76-266, §10, the Legislature enacted Section 627.4132. This became known as the anti-stacking statute and expressly prohibited stacking of all coverages provided in a single policy including <u>uninsured motorist</u> coverage. The statute is as follows:

(As enacted in 1976)

627.4132 Stacking of coverage prohibited.--If an insured or named insured is protected by any type of motor vehicle insurance policy for liability, uninsured motorist, personal injury protection, or any other coverage, the policy shall provide that the insured or insured is protected only to the extent of the coverage he has on the vehicle involved in the accident. However, if none of the insured's or named insured's vehicles is involved in the accident, coverage is available only to the extent of coverage on any one of the vehicles with applicable coverage. Coverage on any other vehicles shall not be added to or

stacked upon that coverage. This section shall not apply to reduce the coverage available by reason of insurance policies insuring different named insureds. (emphasis added)

The statute was amended in 1980. The words "uninsured motorist" were deleted from the first sentence and a new sentence was added stating that the anti-stacking section did not apply to UM coverage. The revised statute (80-364) showing the changes stated:

(As enacted in 1980)

627.4132 Stacking of coverage prohibited.--If an insured or named insured is protected by any type of motor vehicle insurance policy for liability, uninsured motorist, personal injury protection, or other coverage, the policy provide that the insured or insured is protected only to the extent of the coverage he has on the vehicle involved in the accident. However, if none of the insured's or named insured's vehicles is involved in the accident, coverage is available only to the extent of coverage on any one of the vehicles with applicable coverage. Coverage on any other vehicles shall not be added to or stacked upon that coverage. This section shall does not apply:

- (1) To uninsured motorist coverage.
- (2) To reduce the coverage available by reason of insurance policies insuring different named insureds.

Florida Farm Bureau's brief before this Court incorrectly represents the 1980 version of the statute. At page 15 of the brief, the statute is quoted without the underlining showing the additions to the statute. At page 16, the insurance company also incorrectly argues that, if the Legislature had really intended to change anything, it would have done more than simply deleting the term "uninsured motorist" from the anti-stacking statute. In fact, the Legislature did considerably more than

that and the Legislature's intent to totally remove uninsured motorist coverage from any stacking restrictions is obvious from the changes in the wording of the statute. In addition, the legislative history of the statute is specifically on point and indicates that the Legislature intended to allow stacking for commercial fleets of vehicles and that UM rates would go up by 15% as a result.

Strangely, the insurance company's brief before this Court never suggests what it is that the Legislature might have intended by the 1980 amendment to the anti-stacking statute. The insurance company simply argues that the Third District was wrong in its interpretation of the amendment but steadfastly refuses to even suggest what intention the Legislature had. The insurance company further argues that the Senate Economic Impact Analysis should not have been considered because the intent of the Legislature was so clear and obvious.

This Court has already specifically answered the question of whether a court may look to the legislative history of Section 627.4132. In New Hampshire Insurance Group v. Harbach, 439 So.2d 1383 (Fla. 1983), this Court resorted to the legislative history of Chapter 80-364. This Court also stated its recognition that there was a "basis for disagreement on how Section 627.4132 was intended to operate." Resort to legislative history also occurred regarding this same statute in Auto-Owners Insurance Company v. Prough, 463 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

In <u>Ivey v. Chicago Insurance Co.</u>, 410 So.2d 494 (Fla. 1982), this Court considered other amendments to the uninsured motorist statute and specifically relied upon the Senate's Staff

Analysis and Economic Impact Statement pertaining to the legislation. The Court stated:

An act's legislative history is an invaluable tool in construing the provisions thereof. We believe that the 1977 amendment to section 627.727(2)(b) was intended to clarify the legislature's intention, and that the amendment should be considered in construing said law. As Justice Roberts noted:

The rule seems to be well established the interpretation of a statute by the legislative department goes far to remove doubt as to the meaning of the law. The court has the right and the duty, in arriving at the correct meaning of a prior statute, to consider subsequent legislation.

In passing, we also note Justice McDonald's special concurring opinion in <u>Ivey</u> where he states that the plaintiff, a mere passenger of an insured vehicle, had the same rights and same coverage that the named insured had. This statement was in regard to the stacking of UM coverage.

Certainly, the Third District cannot be held in error for having considered the legislative history of this statute since this Court and the other district courts have considered precisely the same history in interpreting the statute.

In support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, the plaintiff filed a certified copy of the Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement. [A.34,36-8]. This staff analysis indicates beyond question that an insured in a corporate vehicle such as the plaintiff herein, is to be permitted to stack UM coverage. Specifically, Part II of the Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement states as follows:

II. ECONOMIC IMPACT AND FISCAL NOTE:

A. Public:

Under this bill, individuals would have, in most situations, more than I policy that would provide UM coverage for any one accident. For example, if a family owned 2 cars with equal UM coverage, twice as much coverage would be available under this bill for any one accident than under present law. More significantly, commercial vehicle fleets would have UM coverage multiplied by as many vehicles covered by the policy.

A spokesman for the insurance industry estimates that UM rates would increase by an average of 15% as a result of this bill.
[A.38]. (emphasis added)

The District Court also found from the history, an intent to revive prior case law as to the "extent of uninsured motorist insurance coverage." The Court also stated that the Senate Statement was more informative than the House Analysis because it provided a more complete analysis of the effect of the amendment.

It is also compelling that the economic analysis of the bill indicated that rates for UM coverage would go up 15 percent as a result of this statutory amendment. At no point has the insurance company involved in this case ever addressed this issue. This is a perfect example of why economic impact statements are required for legislation. If the amendment was not intended to produce more coverage, the history would not have noted that UM rates would increase by 15 percent. We assume the company has raised its UM rates. It now simply does not want to provie the additional coverage.

The policy in question listed 11 vehicles and a separate premium was charged for UM coverage on each vehicle. Thus, the

insured corporation paid a premium for 11 different coverages. It is firmly established that UM coverage is not dependent upon a particular vehicle. Here, 11 different coverages were paid for and Mr. Hurtado is entitled to the benefits of this coverage. See Coleman v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Association, Inc., 517 So.2d 686 (Fla. 1988).

The stacking controversy really begins with a non-stacking case, Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). Although not really involving stacking, it created the classes of insureds designated as Class I and Class II. These classes were created based upon the particular policy provisions which were in the policy in question in Mullis and commonly used in most insurance policies at the time. The policy defined "insured" as the named insured and all relatives of the named insured while residents of the household. This became Class I. Class II was "any other person while occupying an insured automobile."

Stacking of uninsured motorist coverage actually began with <u>Tucker v. Government Employees Insurance Co.</u>, 288 So.2d 238 (Fla. 1973). <u>Tucker cites Mullis</u> and allowed for stacking of UM coverage. In interpreting both <u>Tucker</u> and <u>Mullis</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal issued <u>Travelers Insurance Co. v. Pac</u>, 337 So.2d 397 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). The <u>Pac</u> decision concludes that the "net effect" of both <u>Tucker</u> and <u>Mullis</u> is that stacking of UM coverage is allowed for Class I insureds but not allowed for Class II insureds. All of these cases, <u>Mullis</u>, <u>Tucker</u>, <u>Pac</u>, and numerous other similar decisions, occurred before the Florida

Legislature stepped in and initially tried to restrict stacking in 1976.

The 1976 anti-stacking statute has been held to be less than a "model of clarity" in this Court's opinion in <u>South Carolina Insurance Co. v. Kokay</u>, 398 So.2d 1355 (Fla. 1981). The only reason to change the statute must have been to benefit the Class II insured. The issue thus becomes whether stacking of UM coverage should be allowed for what were previously Class II insureds or indeed, whether such a class should continue to exist at all under the 1980 amendment. The <u>Kokay</u> case concerned the existing 1976 anti-stacking statute and the concurring opinion notes the importance of the 1980 amendment pointing out that the opinion would be of "limited application" in view of the 1980 change in the statute.

The insurance company relies upon two cases from the Fourth District Court of Appeal. In 1983, the Fourth District decided State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. Lewis, 425 So.2d 603 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) and in 1984, the same court decided American States Insurance Co. v. Kelley, 446 So.2d 1085 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), rev. denied, 456 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 1984). Lewis expressly dealt with the 1976 version of \$627.4132. Kelley expressly dealt with the 1980 version of \$627.4132. Despite the fact that there were two markedly different statutes involved, the later Kelley decision specifically relies upon the earlier Lewis interpretation of the 1976 statute.

Lewis held the 1976 statute did not intend to overrule the Class I/Class II doctrine stated in the 1971 Mullis decision. Without recognizing that the Legislature had

drastically changed the statute in 1980, the Fourth District applied the same Class I/Class II rationale in <u>Kelley</u> and held that the Legislature once again did not intend to change the statute at all in regard to uninsured motorist coverage.

If the two decisions are placed side by side, it is obvious that Lewis expressly deals with the 1976 statute and Kelley expressly deals with the 1980 version of the statute but that the distinction between the statutes as to the new wording "this section does not apply . . . to uninsured motorist coverage" is never noted. Despite this fact, Kelley has been cited (without analysis) on numerous occasions. See Coleman v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Association, Inc., 517 So.2d 686 (Fla. 1988); Woodard v. Pennsylvania National Mutual Insurance Co., 534 So.2d 716 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Auto-Owners Insurance Co. v. Brockman, 524 So.2d 490 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988); Durden v. Compass Points, Inc., 521 So.2d 363 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988) and Fundament v. May, 445 So.2d 710 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). We respectfully suggest that Kelley was wrongly decided and that none of the subsequent cases have recognized or addressed this issue.

There are specific rules governing statutory construction. Resort to legislative history is required when the statute is not absolutely clear on its face. However, courts deal only with that legislative history which is brought to its attention. This is particularly true of an economic impact analysis statement which is not available in the average lawyer's library. We suggest that Kelley and numerous other cases would have been decided differently had the courts been provided with the correct information.

The insurance company also relies extensively on the 1971 Mullis decision. Certainly, Mullis is a polestar as to the basic outlines of UM coverage but it has been retreated from insofar as the 1980 amendment to Section 627.4132. In New Hampshire Insurance Group v. Harbach, 439 So.2d 1383 (Fla. 1983), this Court held that Mullis was not controlling because it was based on the earlier version of the uninsured motorist statute rather than the amended version. Mullis obviously never contemplated the statutory changes since it was decided in 1971.

Thus, the question presented to the Third District was simply the correct meaning of Section 627.4132 as it now exists. In short, the issue was whether the anti-stacking statute applies at all to uninsured motorist coverage.

Times and Insurance Policies Change

The entire Class I/Class II rationale was based upon the standard automobile insurance policy in effect when the <u>Mullis</u> case was decided in 1971. The <u>Mullis</u> policy defined "insured" by including the named insured and his household relatives in paragraph one and any other person in paragraph two. This Court, and numerous district courts thereafter, have steadfastly stuck by the two-class theory. The supposed theory of the class structure was stated in both <u>Mullis</u> and <u>Pac</u> and numerous other opinions. The theory is that the named insured intends to buy extra protection for himself and his family but that he does not intend to buy that protection for mere guests or employees.

The basis for this theory is the Mullis policy language:

(1) the first person named in the declarations and while residents of his

household, his spouse and the relatives of either:

(2) any other person while occupying an insured automobile; and . . .

This language is historically the most common definition of an "insured" contained in older automobile insurance policies.

Insurance policies have changed. The present "Business Auto Policy" issued by Florida Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance Company has a new definition of the insured. The policy was issued to a corporation as the named insured. The most logical construction is that any corporate employee who is furnished with a full-time personal vehicle and is authorized to drive all insured vehicles and who is residing on the corporate property should have full rights to stack the coverages. Mr. Hurtado is "an insured" under the policy, a corporate employee, a driver of all 11 vehicles and a resident on the corporate premises. 5]. Class I and Class II based solely on family status simply makes no sense against the background of today's modern policies and the facts of this case. The Third District recognized this change in the policy, the special relationship between the named insured and Mr. Hurtado and the change in the law by virtue of the 1980 amendment.

Mr. Hurtado was not merely a guest in an insured vehicle nor was he merely an employee driving an insured vehicle. Instead, Mr. Hurtado was a person whose employer fully intended to benefit by purchasing UM coverage and by providing him with a home, a vehicle and numerous other benefits. The Legislature intended to benefit Mr. Hurtado and stacking was appropriately allowed.

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